Kerry S. Doyle, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10866 DOYLE LAW OFFICE, PLLC 4600 Kietzke Lane, Ste. I-207 Reno, NV 89502 (775) 525-0889 kerry@rdoylelaw.com

Electronically Filed Jun 11 2019 10:01 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Attorneys for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE JORDAN DANA FRASIER FAMILY TRUST

AMY FRASIER WILSON,

Appellant,

v.

DINNY FRASIER; PREMIER TRUST, INC.; JANIE L. MULRAIN; NORI FRASIER; and BRADLEY L. FRASIER, M.D.;

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Case No. 77981

Kerry S. Doyle, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10866 DOYLE LAW OFFICE, PLLC 4600 Kietzke Lane, Ste. I-207 Reno, NV 89502 (775) 525-0889 kerry@rdoylelaw.com

I. INTRODUCTION

Dinny Frasier ("Dinny")¹ and her husband, Jordan ("Joe") Dana Frasier, established a trust in 1980. (1 Appellant's Appendix "AA" 12-33). They amended it five times before Joe's death in 2014. (1 AA 36-115). When Joe passed away, the Trust's terms split it into two Trusts: Trust A – the survivor's trust, and Trust B – the tax exempt trust. (1 AA 101). The co-trustees of Trust A were Premier Trust, Inc. and Dinny. As the settlor, Dinny also retained the ability to amend Trust A.

For years, this litigation proceeded with disputes over the nature of money the Trusts contributed to purchase a medical building with one of Dinny and Joe's children, Dr. Bradley Frasier, i.e. whether it was a loan or an investment by which and ownership interest had been obtained. (9 AA 2036-37). This issue was ultimately resolved by settlement, under which Dinny was to amend the survivor's trust to distribute properties to each of her three children and allow for equalization payments at the time of her death, to create equal distribution in light of the differences in property value. (1 AA 159-60; 9 AA 2037-38). However, during the litigation and the settlement process, several questions arose regarding Dinny's capacity and the undue and improper influence of some of the professionals that had been hired to ensure her welfare. (*See* 9 AA 2038).

¹ In this appeal, several of the parties are from the same family, to eliminate confusion, the family members are each referred to by their first names.

After recognizing concerns regarding Dinny's capacity, the district court entered an order in October 2018 in which it distributed property to each of the children to effectuate a part of the settlement agreement. Because it could not rule that Dinny had capacity to amend the Trust, it modified the Trust pursuant to NRS 153.031(1)(n). (9 AA 2038). The Court did not, however, modify the Trust to allow for the equalization payments. (*Id*).

After an evidentiary hearing in which the Court "invited the parties to comment upon the propriety of an independent investigator to confirm Dinny's capacity, removing [Janie] Mulrain as Dinny's attorney-in-fact, and appointing a guardian ad litem," the district court determined that all of those issues were beyond its jurisdiction. (10 AA 2210-11). However, in that same order, the district court confirmed the Third, Fourth, and Fifth amendments to the Trust, and also affirmed the payment of over \$180,000 in fees to Ms. Mulrain, without ever appointing the independent investigator or making any factual finding regarding Dinny's capacity or the effect of undue influence on her capacity. (*Id*).

This appeal therefore presents the legal question of whether the district court had jurisdiction to determine Dinny's capacity to make the amendments, and whether it erred as a matter of law by refusing to make those determinations before confirming the amendments.

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Several subsections of NRS 155.190(1) provide for the appealability of the Order After Hearing (Dec. 21, 2018) and the Order Confirming the Fifth Amendment (Jan. 15, 2019). (10 AA 2199-2211). Specifically subsection (f) allows an appeal from an order conveying property, (g) allows an appeal from an order settling an account of a personal representative or trustee, (h) allows an appeal from an order instructing a trustee, (j) allows an appeal from an order directing the payment of a debt or a devise, (l) allows an appeal from an order distributing property, & (n) allows an appeal from any order in which the decision involves an amount in controversy in excess of \$10,000. As this appeal was filed within 30 days of notice of entry of the December 21, 2018 Order, the Court has jurisdiction over this timely appeal. (10 AA 2227). *See* NRS 155.190(1).

III. ROUTING STATEMENT

As a case involving trust and estate matters in which the corpus of the estate exceeds \$5,430,000, this case would not be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b)(14). However, as the appeal presents primarily an error correction issues, Amy Frasier-Wilson does not object to assignment to the Court of Appeals.

IV. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- Did the district court err as a matter of law when it declined to consider Dinny Frasier's capacity and the role of undue influence on her capacity to make the Third, Fourth, and Fifth amendments to the Trust by finding that those questions were beyond its jurisdiction?
- 2. Did the district court err as a matter of law by confirming the Third, Fourth, and Fifth amendments to the Trust without making a legal determination of the proper standard under which capacity should be considered?
- 3. Did the district court err as a matter of law by confirming the Third, Fourth, and Fifth amendments to the Trust without making a factual finding regarding Dinny Frasier's capacity or the effect of undue influence on her capacity despite recognizing serious questions regarding her capacity?
- 4. Did the district court err as a matter of law by awarding Janie Mulrain fees without making a determination that Dinny Frasier had capacity to execute the powers of attorney or contract engaging Janie Mulrain?

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The factual issues in this case mainly involve Dinny Frasier's competence to make testamentary and contract decisions. At one point or another, every party to the litigation raised questions regarding Dinny's competence. (*See, e.g.,* 1 AA 128 (conditioning the settlement agreement upon a determination of capacity)). Indeed, the district court confirmed Dinny's resignation as co-trustee of the trust after recognizing the questions regarding her competence. (*See* 2 AA 362; 3 AA 499; 4 AA 800, 816, 844). Nevertheless, the district court confirmed the validity of certain amendments to her trust and contractual transaction, without ever making any factual findings that she had the requisite capacity. (*See* 10 AA 2180).

Dinny and Joe established a trust in 1980. (1 AA 12-33). They amended it five times before Joe's death in 2014. (1 AA 36-115). Those amendments are not in dispute. When Joe passed away, the trust's terms split it into two trusts: Trust A – the survivor's trust, and Trust B – the tax exempt trust. (1 AA 101). The co-trustees of Trust A were Premier Trust, Inc. and Dinny. As the settlor, Dinny also retained the ability to amend Trust A.

Dinny and Joe had three children, all of whom are now adults and are involved in this litigation: Bradley ("Brad"), Nori, and Amy. (10 AA 2200). The family dynamics have been turbulent and difficult for Dinny and all three children. (*Id.*)

This action was commenced on March 2, 2016, when Dinny and Premier filed a petition pursuant to NRS 164.010 to confirm them as co-trustees, and for instructions on how to deal with a dispute between the Trusts and Brad over the nature of money contributed by the Trusts towards the purchase of Brad's medical building. (1 AA 1). The district court assumed jurisdiction over the Trusts, and set a bench trial for May 8, 2017 to resolve the dispute. (*See* 10 AA 2280-81).

In the course of the litigation, around November or December 2016, Dinny retained Barnet Resnick to represent her personally. (6 AA 1173). Resnick introduced Dinny to Janie Mulrain in December 2016. (6 AA 1215). Although Mulrain called it an interview, Dinny purportedly hired Mulrain at their first meeting. (8 AA 1686, 1702). Dinny also executed a power of attorney over her finances and health care to Janie Mulrain. (*See* 4 AA 894). Mulrain almost immediately began experiencing difficulty because other entities questioned Dinny's capacity. (*See* 9 AA 2110-11 (noting that a bank was demanding a declaration of capacity for Dinny)).

Prior to the date set for trial on the dispute over Brad's medical building, the parties informed the district court that they had mediated the dispute on January 27, 2017, and reached a settlement. (1 AA 232). The parties (or their counsel) each signed an informal settlement agreement at the conclusion of the mediation.² (1 AA 214-17). However, the parties were later unable to agree to a formal settlement agreement, and in certain respects, contested whether an enforceable settlement agreement had in fact been reached. (*See* 1 AA 116).

 $^{^{2}}$ Dinny, who left the mediation early, signed the informal agreement after that day. (1 AA 118).

The informal settlement agreement generally provided for the distribution of three pieces of real property from the Trusts, one to each of the children. (1 AA 214-17). Because the properties differed in value, the informal settlement agreement also provided for equalizing cash payments to each of the children. (*Id.*) To effectuate these distributions, the informal settlement agreement required Dinny to amend Trust A. (*Id.*) The informal settlement agreement was expressly contingent on approval by the district court. (*Id.*) Finally, the informal settlement agreement provided that: "Dinny shall be evaluated by a qualified gerontologist to assess her capacity to contract and to make testamentary disposition of her estate." (*Id.*) It was expressly contingent on Court approval of this Agreement, and subject to a capacity assessment by a qualified gerontologist, Dinny shall distribute or authorize to distribute [the real property]." (*Id.*)

As contemplated in the settlement agreement, Dinny was evaluated for competency by Dr. Spar on February 28, 2017. (1 AA 211-12). Dr. Spar's report stated that Dinny was not oriented to "the year, month, date, day, season, place" and showed "moderate cognitive impairments." (*Id.*) However, Dr. Spar concluded that Dinny retained testamentary capacity, and that she also retained contractual capacity, "**as long as she is not required to rely on her unaided recall alone**." (*Id.* (emphasis in original)). On April 14, 2017, Dinny filed a Motion to Approve and Enforce Settlement Agreement and to Vacate Trial Date. (1 AA 116). In that Motion, Dinny noted that the informal settlement agreement expressly stated that it was contingent upon court approval and that "confirmation of Dinny's capacity is also an implied condition." (1 AA 117). The district court vacated the May 8, 2017, trial and set an evidentiary hearing in its place (which was then continued to May 9th), to determine whether the parties agreed to all material terms of the settlement. (1 AA 232). It also ordered the parties to file pre-hearing statements. (*Id.*)

As Premier noted in its May 5, 2017 pre-hearing statement, "it is clear the evaluation [by Dr. Spar] was rushed and the conclusions reached by Dr. Spar appear in some places to be contradictory." (2 AA 249). Premier urged the district court to interview Dinny, reach its own conclusions, and to make findings of fact regarding her capacity. (2 AA 248-49). However, Dinny did not attend the evidentiary hearing (2 AA 319), and the district court did not make any findings regarding her capacity.

While the dispute over the settlement agreement continued and with her capacity significantly questioned, on April 27, 2017, Dinny executed the Third Amendment to Trust A, by which she amended the distribution of the Trust A assets upon her death to several charities. (*See* 9 AA 2064-65). Premier Trust, however, never signed the amendment. (9 AA 2082).

In an attempt to address the concerns regarding Dinny's capacity to serve as co-trustee, Dinny was evaluated by Dr. Spar again on May 19, 2017. (2 AA 427). After

that evaluation, Dr. Spar concluded that Dinny retained the ability to make decisions regarding the trust, such as whether to replace the co-trustee, or hire or fire attorneys. (2 AA 428). Dr. Spar did not make any findings regarding contractual capacity. (*Id.* at 428). Dr. Spar did not address Dinny's inaccurate factual recall, in which she stated that Amy and her husband had promised to move in with her and then refused to do so. (9 AA 2121). Shortly thereafter, however, Dinny agreed to resign as co-trustee, to prevent further disputes over her ability to carry out her duties as trustee. (3 AA 490).

While these evaluations were occurring, the district court was deciding the pending motions. It entered three orders on July 6, 2017. In the first order, the district court held that the informal settlement agreement was enforceable. (2 AA 456). Again, it made no findings as to Dinny's capacity. (See 2 AA 458-59). In the second order, the district court held that Dinny could make amendments to Trust A, including alternate distributions, "so long as she is capacitated." (2 AA 462). In the third order, the court stated: "This Court is concerned about [Dinny's] cognition and capacity, and the external influences that have been excluded from and introduced into [Dinny's] life... [Dinny] shall appear in person and be available for observation, crossexamination, and possible evaluation." (2 AA 454). The district court also stated that: "based upon the current allegations, no amendment to any trust documents will be effective without proof to this Court of [Dinny's] testamentary and contractual capacity. The evaluation provided by Dr. Spar is not preponderant proof of [Dinny]'s capacity." (2 AA 455 (emphasis added)). Finally, the district court authorized Premier to engage a geriatric psychiatrist or similar expert to make observations of Ms. Frasier's cognition and capacity, and whether further evaluation may be necessary. (*Id*).

Dr. Spar evaluated Dinny a third time on September 22, 2017, and again concluded that Dinny retained testamentary and contractual capacity. (9 AA 2124-25). Dinny was also evaluated on July 12, 2018, and August 30, 2018, by Dr. Sandra Klein,³ a gerontologist at University of California, Irvine. (9 AA 2136-39). Dr. Klein noted that Dinny believed it was December 2001, when in fact the exam occurred in August 2018. (9 AA at 2137). Dr. Klein noted that Dinny claimed to be "disappointed and frustrated" with her children for "trying to get [her] money." (7 AA 1560). However, as Dr. Klein stated, that was "in direct contrast to [Dinny's] comment in the [July] evaluation when she reported being close to all her children." (*Id*). Dr. Klein concluded that Dinny retained testamentary capacity but did not have contractual capacity. (7 AA 1563). Dr. Klein directly opined that Dinny was vulnerable to undue influence by others when it comes to her financial affairs. (*Id*).

In another evidentiary hearing on October 11 and 12, 2018, which Dinny did not attend, the district court again expressed concerns regarding Dinny's capacity, stating that it could not determine at that time whether she had capacity or not. (9 AA

³ Dr. Klein notes in her evaluative report that Dinny was also seen in her office on July 12, 2018, however, a report of that evaluation could not be located in the record. (*See* 7 AA 1560).

1988). The district court indicated that it would require a determination of Dinny's capacity to execute the Amendments, and that there would be a right to contest that determination. (9 AA 2018, 2021, 2028). The district court also indicated that it had concerns about its jurisdiction with respect to the various allegations related to Dinny's care and allegations of abuse and undue influence. (9 AA 1965-66, 2014-15). However, the district court also made it clear that it intended to relinquish or transfer jurisdiction to a California court "but only after this litigation is complete." (9 AA 2015; *see also* 9 AA 2028 ("[the court's] relinquishment of jurisdiction is anticipated, but not yet. I talked about completing the deal…")).

As a result of that hearing, Dr. Klein again evaluated Dinny on November 12, 2018. (9 AA 2142-45). Dr. Klein concluded that Dinny "is unable to manipulate information and balance the pros and cons of her immediate situations because information becomes overwhelming for her and she needs assistance keeping facts and details correct without forgetting." (9 AA 2145). Dr. Klein stated "This makes her vulnerable to undue influence by others when it comes to her financial affairs." (*Id.*) Finally, Dr. Klein opined that Dinny retained testamentary capacity, but she "would need trusted advisors to help her understand information sufficient to ensure contractual capacity." (*Id.*).

After the properties that were the subject of the settlement agreement had been appraised, on November 13, 2018, Dinny executed the Fourth Amendment to Trust A to provide for the monetary equalization distributions to each of her children that would be made upon her passing. (9 AA 2091). Dinny then filed a "Petition to Confirm the Third and Fourth Amendments to Survivor's Trust to Effectuate Terms of Settlement Agreement & Certain Transfers Payable Upon Death of the Survivor – Mrs. Dinny Frasier." (9 AA 2045).

Appellant Amy Frasier Wilson timely filed objections to Dinny's Petition to Confirm the Third and Fourth Amendments. (9 AA 2094-10 AA 2198). Amy asserted that the Fourth Amendment contained mathematical errors in calculating the equalization payments, and she also objected that Dinny lacked capacity to execute the Third and Fourth Amendments (collectively, "Amendments"). (*Id.*)

In an order dated December 21, 2018, the district court granted the Petition to Confirm the Third and Fourth Amendments. (10 AA 2199). The district court made numerous findings of fact, but none related to Dinny's capacity. The district court noted that it had "previously expressed its concerns and invited the parties to comment upon the propriety of an independent investigator to confirm Dinny's capacity, removing Ms. Mulrain as Dinny's attorney-in-fact, and appointing a guardian ad litem." (10 AA 2210-11). However, the district court then concluded that these matters were "ancillary issues" that must be addressed in a California court. (*Id*) The order provided that the district court would only "modestly intervene in personal issues in accordance with NRS 164.010 and NRS 164.015." (*Id*.) The court then denied Appellant Amy's objections to capacity without any factual findings, analysis, or explanation. (*Id*) Thus, the district court approved the amendments to the Trusts, without ever making any findings or conclusions regarding Dinny's capacity or undue influence, despite Amy directly objecting to the petition on those grounds.

The district court had recognized a potential calculation error in determining the amounts of the equalization payments and ordered Dinny and her counsel to correct the error. (10 AA 2211). In response, Dinny executed the Fifth Amendment to Trust A on December 4, 2018, still without any legal determination of capacity or her understanding at the time she executed the Fifth Amendment. (10 AA 2220-23). Premier Trust never signed the Third, Fourth, or Fifth Amendments to Trust A. (*See* 9 AA 2082; 10 AA 2187, 2224).

On January 15, 2019, the district court entered an order confirming the Fifth Amendment to the Trust, which rectified the arithmetic error that Amy had pointed out in her objections to the Third and Fourth Amendments. (10 AA 2246-48). However, the district court still did not make any findings as to Dinny's capacity. (*Id.*)

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's order approving the Third, Fourth, and Fifth Amendments ("Amendments") to the Trusts and approving the payment of over \$180,000 in fees to Mulrain must be reversed and remanded for further proceedings.

First, the district court improperly determined that it lacked jurisdiction to determine Dinny's capacity, even though her capacity is critical to the validity of the Amendments and her power of attorney to Mulrain. The district court properly had jurisdiction under NRS 164.010 and 164.015 to determine the validity of the Amendments. By exercising that jurisdiction, yet refusing to determine Dinny's capacity, the district court abdicated its duty to decide contested issues, and effectively denied Appellant her day in court.

Second, the district court did not make any determination of the proper legal standard for capacity in this case. California law controls the validity and interpretation of the Trusts. California law provides for a "sliding scale" level of capacity, depending on the complexity of the decision at issue. Here, Dinny was presented with three amendments to an AB Trust, intended to effectuate a settlement agreement that required equalizing payments to her children upon her death. Thus she was faced with issues and decisions that were considerably more complex than making a simple will. Because the district court failed to identify the proper legal standard, it is not possible to meaningfully review the correctness of any implied finding that Dinny had the required capacity. Third, the district court, because it refused to decide the issue of capacity, also did not make any factual findings in that respect. On numerous occasions, the district court expressed concerns about Dinny's capacity, and contemplated appointing an independent investigator to determine whether Dinny had capacity or was under undue influence. However, the district court ultimately declined to do so, instead holding that these were "ancillary issues" that must be heard by a California court.

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