IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE JORDAN DANA FRASIER FAMILY TRUST

No. 77981

Electronically Filed Sep 09 2019 07:34 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

AMY FRASIER WILSON,

Appellant,

vs.

DINNY FRASIER; PREMIER TRUST, INC.; JANIE L. MULRAIN; NORI FRASIER; and BRADLEY L. FRASIER;

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada In and For the County of Washoe, Department 15 The Honorable David Hardy (the "District Court")

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The District Court lawfully denied Appellant's objections to Mrs. Dinny Frasier's ability to lawfully execute the Third, Fourth, and Fifth Amendments to the Trust, as well as engage Janie Mulrain's services pursuant to a financial power of attorney, after extensive litigation and evidence presented to the Court regarding Mrs. Frasier's level of capacity and freedom from undue influence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose in District Court when Mrs. Dinny Frasier and Premier Trust, Inc. ("PT") filed a "Petition for Confirmation of Trustees, for Construction of the Trust Instruments, and for Instructions" on March 2, 2016 regarding the Jordan Dana Frasier Family Trust, as amended and restated (the "Trust"). 1 AA 1-115. The Petition requested the District Court assume jurisdiction over the Trust pursuant to NRS 164.010, confirm Mrs. Frasier as a co-trustee of the Trust, confirm PT is the corporate and primary co-trustee of the Trust, order PT to provide an annual accounting of the Trust to Mrs. Frasier, and provide guidance on PT's duties with respect to a medical office building in which the Trust allegedly had partial ownership. 1 AA 7. After a lawfully noticed hearing before the Honorable Probate Commissioner of the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Robin Wright, on April 13, 2016, Commissioner Wright issued a Recommendation for Order on April 21, 2016. 1 RA 1-5.

The Recommendation stated the District Court assumed ongoing jurisdiction over the Trust pursuant to NRS 164.010 until otherwise ordered by the Court. 1 RA 1. The Recommendation confirmed PT was the primary Co-Trustee of the Trust. 1 RA 2. The District Court adopted and confirmed the Recommendation for Order in a Minute Order dated August 18, 2016 with the exception of Paragraph 13 of the Recommendation. 1 RA 6. The District Court then issued a written Order on August 29, 2016 adopting the Recommendation for Order, excluding Paragraph 13 of the Recommendation. 1 RA 7. Therefore, the District Court assumed ongoing jurisdiction over the Trust pursuant to NRS 164.010 in August of 2016.

After assuming jurisdiction over the Trust, the initial dispute before this Court involved the Trust's purported ownership interest in a medical office building in Southern California. 1 RA 8-92. The Court set a bench trial on May 8, 2017, to determine the Trust's legal rights and responsibilities with respect to the medical office building in dispute. 1 AA 232. However, on February 24, 2017, PT filed a "Status Report" indicating the Parties mediated the medical office building issues to resolution on January 27, 2017 (the "Medical Building Settlement"). 1 RA 93-94. Mrs. Amy Frasier Wilson was a Party to, and executed, the Medical Building Settlement. 1 AA 214-217. Thereafter, the Parties engaged in a dispute over the terms of settlement, and in certain respects, contested whether there was an enforceable settlement agreement reached during mediation. 1 AA 116-231.

In response, the District Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on May 9, 2017 regarding the enforceability of the Medical Building Settlement and its specific terms. 2 AA 317-377. After the hearing, the District Court ordered the Settlement Agreement reached during the January 27, 2017 mediation was valid and enforceable. 2 AA 456-460. The Court further clarified the Medical Building Settlement should be enforced as written subject only to the requirement that equalization payments to Mrs. Frasier's children required by the settlement should be made upon Mrs. Frasier's passing. 2 AA 460. Therefore, the disputes arising out of the Trust's ownership interest in the Medical Office Building were resolved by the Parties during mediation, and the terms of the Medical Building Settlement were enforced by the District Court in its July 6, 2017 Order. 2 AA 456-460. No Party has appealed the Court's July 6, 2017 Order. 1 RA 95-103. Each Party, including Mrs. Amy Frasier Wilson, signed the Medical Building Settlement. 1 AA 214-217.

Part of the Medical Building Settlement required Mrs. Frasier to amend her Trust to equalize certain payments from the Trust to her three children - Bradley Frasier, Nori Frasier, and Amy Frasier Wilson. 1 AA 214-217. Despite the Parties' Agreement to the Medical Building Settlement requiring Mrs. Frasier to amend the Trust, PT questioned whether Mrs. Frasier had capacity to participate in ongoing administration of the Trust. 2 AA 378-432. PT filed a request for instructions seeking guidance on how to address Mrs. Frasier's alleged lack of capacity to administer the Trust on May 31, 2017. Id. Following PT's May 31, 2017 request for instructions, over a year's worth of Mrs. Frasier's and litigation ensued regarding capacity PT's administration of the Trust culminating in a two-day evidentiary hearing held October 11 and 12, 2018. This appeal arises from the District Court's December 21, 2018 Order resolving the issue of Mrs. Frasier's lawful ability to amend the Trust, which concluded:

- Mrs. Amy Frasier Wilson failed to prove her Objection by a preponderance of the evidence to Mrs. Frasier's capacity to contract with Janie Mulrain; and
- 2. The Court's denial of Mrs. Amy Frasier Wilson's Objection to confirmation of the Third and Fourth Amendments to the Trust based on Mrs. Frasier's alleged lack of capacity and susceptibility

to undue influence.

The facts supporting the Court's denial of Mrs. Amy Frasier Wilson's Objections to confirmation of the Third and Fourth Trust Amendments, as well as to payment of Janie Mulrain's fees, are set forth below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES SUBMITTED FOR REVIEW

The Parties first questioned Mrs. Frasier's capacity in the context of her ability to agree to the terms of the Medical Building Settlement, and in fact, made her capacity a condition to precedent to the enforceability of the Medical Building Settlement. 1 AA 159. Specifically, the Parties, including Appellant, signed a "Settlement Agreement" on January 27, 2017 following a mediation before the Honorable Jeffrey King (retired). 1 AA 214-217. Paragraph 2 of the Settlement Agreement makes Mrs. Frasier's capacity to contract and testamentary dispositions of her Estate a condition precedent to the Settlement Agreement. 1 AA 216. In accordance with the Agreement, Mrs. Frasier submitted an evaluation by J. Edward Spar, M.D., a Professor of Psychiatry, Division of Geriatric Psychiatry, at the University of California, Los Angeles. 1 AA 219-231. Dr. Spar concluded Mrs. Frasier retained capacity to make dispositions of her Estate, to contract with appropriate assistance, and to serve as Co-Trustee of the Trust with the assistance of a qualified co-trustee. 1 AA 230-231. Despite Dr. Spar's findings, the Parties contested the enforceability of the Medical Building Settlement, due in part, to concerns regarding Mrs. Frasier's capacity, forcing Mrs. Frasier to bring a Motion before the District Court to enforce the Settlement Agreement. 1 AA 116-231. In support of the Motion to Approve and Enforce the Settlement Agreement, Mrs. Frasier attached a Declaration from Dr. Spar dated April 14, 2017, which confirmed his February 28, 2017 evaluation of Mrs. Frasier concluding she retained contractual and testamentary capacity. 1 AA 219-231.

In response to the Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement, the Court scheduled an evidentiary hearing on May 8, 2017, to determine the enforceability of the Medical Building Settlement. 1 AA 232. The Order permitted the Parties to file pre-hearing statements by May 5, 2017. *Id.* PT filed its Pre-Hearing Statement on May 5, 2017, in which it acknowledged its Trust Officer did not witness any signs of undue influence or lack of capacity exhibited by Mrs. Frasier. 2 AA 241. PT further confirmed the Amen Clinic performed a competency evaluation of Mrs. Frasier on March 25, 2016 and found her to be competent. 2 AA 245. PT then requested the Court find Mrs. Frasier competent to enter into the Medical Building Settlement. 2 AA 248-249. Following the Hearing, the Court entered three Orders on July 6, 2017. 2 AA 454-462. First, the Court concluded the Medical Building Settlement was enforceable and did not invalidate the Settlement due to allegations of Mrs. Frasier's incapacity to contract. 2 AA 456-460. Second, the Court set a future hearing for July 24, 2017 to examine Mrs. Frasier's capacity and the influences exerted over her in light of the allegations presented to the Court prior to and during the May 2017 Evidentiary Hearing. 2 AA 454-455. Therefore, Mrs. Frasier's capacity was litigated for over a year prior to the October 11-12, 2018 Hearing. Id.

In fact, PT filed a Second Supplemental Request for Instructions regarding Mrs. Frasier's capacity and her ability to administer the Trust on May 31, 2017 (the "Instructions Request"). 2 AA 378-432. Appellant filed a Joinder to the Instructions Request, wherein she raised concerns to the District Court regarding manipulation of Mrs. Frasier and her capacity. 2 AA 433-440. Thus, Appellant, in proper person, raised the issues of Mrs. Frasier's capacity and susceptibility to influence to the District Court via her Joinder. *Id.* The District Court then set this matter for hearing on October 17, 2017 to address the Instructions Request and Appellant's Joinder to the Instructions Request in light of the capacity concerns raised by PT and Appellant. 4 AA 796-843.

Prior to the October 17, 2017 Hearing, Mrs. Frasier responded to the Instructions Request and Appellant's Joinder on July 12, 2017 ("Mrs. Frasier's Response"). 3 AA 463 – 4 AA 711. In Mrs. Frasier's Response, she offers to resign as Co-Trustee of the Trust in order to avoid further litigation over her capacity to administer the Trust and manage its affairs. 3 AA 490. Nonetheless, Mrs. Frasier's Response presented substantial evidence of her capacity and ability to exercise her own free will absent influence undue influence. 3 AA 463 – 4 AA 711. Of note, Mrs. Frasier's Response included a letter from Dr. Spar summarizing a second capacity assessment of Mrs. Frasier he performed on May 19, Dr. Spar concluded from his second capacity 2017.3 AA 517-518. assessment of Mrs. Frasier she is competent to make trust related decisions. 3 AA 518. Thus, PT, the Appellant and Mrs. Frasier presented written briefing to the District Court regarding Mrs. Frasier's capacity, and then the Parties appeared before the District Court on October 17, 2017 for hearing on the issue. 4 AA 844. Appellant did not attend the October 17, 2017 to argue the contents of her Joinder to the Instructions Request. *Id.*

At the hearing, Mrs. Frasier, through her counsel, renewed her offer to resign as Co-Trustee of the Trust to eliminate on-going litigation over her capacity to administer the Trust and make Trust-related decisions. 4 AA 814. In light of the Instructions Request and Mrs. Frasier's consent to resign as Co-Trustee of the Trust, the Court ordered Mrs. Frasier removed as Co-Trustee of the Trust. 4 AA 844. The Court further permitted Mrs. Frasier to Petition the Court for removal of the PT as Trustee of the Trust upon appropriate grounds.

In accordance with the Court's Order, Mrs. Frasier petitioned the District Court for a final accounting and removal of PT as Trustee of the Trust on June 18, 2018. 2 RA 104-227. Mrs. Frasier then withdrew her Petition for Final Accounting pursuant to a Stipulation and Order filed August 7, 2018. 2 RA 228-230. The Stipulation and Order confirmed PT would file a petition to confirm its accountings, PT would resign as Trustee of the Trust, and PT would not object to appointment of a courtapproved Successor Trustee. *Id.* The Stipulation and Order further confirmed PT's petition to confirm it accountings would be heard on August 17, 2018. *Id.*

Prior to the August 17 hearing date, the Court requested a telephonic conference to consider the scope of the hearing. 4 AA 851. The Court identified its desire to provide finality to the Parties in order to reduce costs and expenses of litigation. 4 AA 852. Therefore, the Court ordered the "final hearing" in the case would occur on October 11, 2018. *Id.* The District Court permitted any person to appear at the hearing and be heard on the condition the Party filed an objection identifying its concerns to the Court by August 24, 2017. Id. The District Court further ordered Counsels Millsap and Resnick to submit a Statement of Compliance with RPC 1.14 to alleviate the concerns regarding Mrs. Frasier's capacity. 4 AA 853. All Parties were authorized to file hearing statements no later than October 5, 2018 identifying resolved issues, new fact allegations, and issues of law regarding matters of substance. Id.

Therefore, Appellant filed an Objection to PT's accountings and "Statement of Concerns" on August 24, 2018. 4 AA 855-869. Appellant

11

also filed a Prehearing Statement on October 8, 2018. 7 AA 1438-1547. Appellant's Statement of Concerns placed the issue of Mrs. Frasier's cognitive capacity before the Court. 4 AA 855-869. Appellant's Prehearing Statement also placed at issue allegations of undue influence exerted on Mrs. Frasier, allegations of her inability to understand the Trust and her corresponding cognitive decline, and the propriety of services provided by Janie Mulrain. 7 AA 1438-1547.

In addition to Appellant's prehearing filings, Counsels Resnick and Millsap filed RPC 1.14 Statements of Compliance as directed by the Court to address Mrs. Frasier's capacity and involvement in the litigation. 4 AA 873-882; 6 AA 1173-1263. Counsel Resnick's Statement of Compliance provided three separate capacity assessments from Dr. Spar all concluding Mrs. Frasier had testamentary and contractual capacity. 6 AA 1201-1207. The Court then conducted the evidentiary hearing on October 11 and 12 of 2018, which included consideration of Mrs. Frasier's dealings with Janie Mulrain and Mrs. Frasier's capacity, which were placed at issue before the Court by Appellant in her prehearing filings with the District Court. 4 AA 855-869; 7 AA 1438-1547. Specifically, the District Court questioned Appellant regarding the issues she brought before the Court for hearing, and Appellant indicated she would like Mrs. Frasier's ability to amend the Trust considered and determined by the Court. 7 AA 1622-1624.

Following the October 11 and 12, 2018 Hearing, the Court entered an Order on October 15, 2018 modifying the Trust to make the certain property conveyances required by the Medical Building Settlement. 9 AA 2036-2039. Additionally, Mrs. Frasier filed a Petition to Confirm the Third and Fourth Amendments to the Trust on November 19, 2018 in light of the evidence presented at the Hearing. 9 AA 2045-2093. Appellant objected to the Petition on December 10, 2018 based on the allegation that Mrs. Frasier lacked capacity to amend the Trust. 9 AA 2094-2105. Mrs. Frasier's Objection presented evidence and argument regarding Mrs. Frasier's alleged lack of capacity in addition to the evidence presented during the October 11 and 12, 2018 Hearing, where Mrs. Frasier asked the Court to consider Mrs. Frasier's capacity to amend the Trust. 9 AA 2094 – 10 AA 2198.

After considering the evidence presented during the October 2018 hearing, the evidence presented throughout the case regarding Mrs. Frasier's capacity, and Appellant's Objection filed December 10, 2018 and its corresponding evidence, the Court made the following findings in its December 21, 2018 Order After Hearing:

- Appellant generally alleges Mrs. Frasier lacks capacity. 10 AA 2210.
- 2. Appellant did not prove her objections by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id*.
- 3. The Petition to confirm the Third and Fourth Amendments to the Trust are approved. 10 AA 2211.
- 4. Appellant's objections to the Trust Amendments, primarily related to Mrs. Frasier's capacity, are denied. 10 AA 2211.

The Court correctly denied Appellant's Objection to the Trust Amendments as argued below.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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